Technical Publication SJ2000-2

TECHNICAL FEASIBILITY OF ARTIFICIAL RECHARGE OF RECLAIMED WASTEWATER AND ITS HYDROLOGIC IMPACTS ON THE REGIONAL GROUNDWATER SYSTEM

by

Ghulam Rabbani, Ph.D., P.E. and Doug Munch, P.G.

Professional Engineer License No. PE48993 August 11, 2000

St. Johns River Water Management District Palatka, Florida

2000



The St. Johns River Water Management District (SJRWMD) was created by the Florida Legislature in 1972 to be one of five water management districts in Florida. It includes all or part of 19 counties in northeast Florida. The mission of SJRWMD is to manage water resources to ensure their continued availability while maximizing environmental and economic benefits. It accomplishes its mission through regulation; applied research; assistance to federal, state, and local governments; operation and maintenance of water control works; and land acquisition and management.

Special Publications are published to disseminate information collected by SJRWMD in pursuit of its mission. Copies of this report can be obtained from:

Library St.Johns River Water Management District P.O. Box 1429 Palatka, FL 32178-1429

Phone: (904) 329 4132

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The population of the St. Johns River Water Management District (SJRWMD) is about 3.44 million, 2.89 million of whom depend on public water supply and about 0.55 million of whom depend on domestic sources (Florence 1994). In SJRWMD, 1,522 million gallons per day (mgd) of freshwater is withdrawn for potable and nonpotable uses. Fresh groundwater comprises about 1,119 mgd, or 75% of this amount. At present, 38% of the groundwater pumpage is used for public water supply. Only a small part of the fresh groundwater pumpage is used for drinking and cooking, and the remaining portion ends up as wastewater. Thus, a large amount of wastewater could be reused or artificially recharged into the groundwater system after treatment.

This study investigated the technical feasibility and hydrologic impacts of artificial recharge with reclaimed wastewater through rapid infiltration basins (RIBs) into the groundwater system. SJRWMD is especially interested in maintaining or increasing the potentiometric head of the Floridan aquifer system and associated spring discharges through the use of artificial recharge with reclaimed wastewater. To evaluate this option, potential artificial recharge sites were identified within the study area using SJRWMD's geographic information system. The study area was divided into seven subregions on the basis of proximity of wastewater treatment plants to the potential recharge sites. Up to 21 potential sites were then selected for artificial recharge of groundwater using RIBs.

GROUNDWATER MODELING

Groundwater modeling was performed to achieve the objectives of this study. The U.S. Geological Survey's (USGS) MODFLOW was used as a tool for performing groundwater flow simulations in this study. The hydrologic impacts of RIBs were evaluated using two pumping scenarios, one for the year 1994 and the other for the year 2010. The hydrologic impacts of artificial recharge through RIBs on the groundwater system were assessed by comparing the differences between the simulations with and without artificial recharge. The simulations without artificial recharge of reclaimed wastewater at the recharge sites or RIBs are considered baseline simulations.

The 2010 groundwater demand (pumpage) was projected to be significantly higher compared to that of 1994. Thus, overall drawdown in

the year 2010 was simulated to be greater than that of 1994. From the regional (model area) perspective, the weighted average head differences between 1994 and 2010 were computed to be 1.25, 1.51, and 1.57 feet (ft), respectively, for the surficial, Upper Floridan, and Lower Floridan aquifers.

HYDROLOGIC SIMULATIONS

Five simulations were performed to evaluate the impacts of artificial recharge through RIBs with reclaimed wastewater on the groundwater system. The simulated conditions and results are summarized in Table ES-1.

In the case of Simulation 1, RIBs were simulated at seven artificial recharge sites and all the available reclaimed wastewater (24.6 mgd) was recharged. This first simulation showed that RIBs were unable to accept all available reclaimed water at four of the seven sites because of excessive local mounding of the water table. The main reasons for this condition are hydrogeologic in nature, such as the shallow thickness of the unsaturated zone, the low leakance of the upper confining unit, and low transmissivity of the surficial aquifer at the RIB sites.

Therefore, in Simulation 2, the recharge rates were substantially reduced to avoid surface runoff at the recharge sites. Because of the reduced recharge rates, the mound heights were not as large as in Simulation 1; however, the enhancements in potentiometric head and spring discharge did not differ appreciably from the baseline conditions with no artificial recharge. Only 7.5 mgd of the total available reclaimed water can be effectively recharged by the original seven RIB sites.

In Simulation 3, the original recharge rates were used, but the size of the RIB recharge areas at each of the unsuccessful sites was increased to accommodate the available treated wastewater. However, despite the larger recharge areas, local water mounding was excessive again.

In Simulation 4, the number of RIB recharge sites was increased from seven to 21. Multiple RIB sites were located in subregions in which a single RIB was not successful. The recharge rates were reduced at the RIB sites that experienced flooding and surface runoff conditions. The newly selected sites were placed as far apart as possible to minimize interference with each other. Although this option helped reduce the excessive rising of the water table in many areas, flooding still persisted at some places. Lack of the hydrologic and hydrogeologic conditions necessary to

Simulation Number	General Description	Recharge Rate (mgd)	Regional Increase in Potentiometric Head (feet) (Year 2010)			A
			Surficial Aquifer	Upper Floridan Aquifer	Lower Floridan Aquifer	Comments
1	All available reclaimed water directed to the seven rapid infiltration basin (RIB) sites	24.6	0.54	0.30	0.24	This option is technically infeasible due to excessive groundwater mounding at four of the seven sites
2	Recharged rate reduced in four RIBs to prevent unacceptable groundwater mounding	7.5	0.18	0.08	0.07	Technically feasible recharge rate for 7-RIB configuration is small, and improvement to Upper Floridan aquifer is insignificant
3	RIBs were increased in size to accommodate additional reclaimed water	24.6	0.52	0.28	0.23	Although groundwater mounding is reduced, the increased RIB area is still insufficient to accommodate all reclaimed water without excessive mounding
4	Number of RIB sites is increased from seven to 21	24.6	0.59	0.26	0.21	This option solved the groundwater mounding problem for two of the four unsuccessful sites; however, two sites are still unsatisfactory
4a	Same as Simulation 4 (21 RIB sites); however, reclaimed water recharge rate is reduced	22.5	0.55	0.24	0.19	The total recharge rate is reduced from 24.6 mgd to 22.5 mgd; this is the maximum recharge rate that can be accommodated by the identified RIB site without excessive mounding

Table ES-1. Summary of artificial recharge simulations with reclaimed wastewater

Note: mgd = million gallons per day

Executive Summary

accommodate and convey the artificially recharged water within the soil profile were responsible for this result.

Simulation 4a is the same as Simulation 4, except that the reclaimed water application rate is reduced as necessary until the computed groundwater mounding is within acceptable limits. The results indicate that the 21 candidate RIB sites appear to effectively recharge 22.5 mgd, or about 91%, of the available reclaimed water (24.6 mgd).

CONCLUSIONS

The estimated increase in potentiometric head under year 2010 pumping conditions is summarized in Table ES-1 for each simulation. In general, the regional increase in aquifer head is directly proportional to the recharge rate. Simulations 1, 3, and 4 are all based on recharge of the full 24.6 mgd of reclaimed water, and the resulting regional increase in potentiometric head is about the same for each case. Each of these options is also technically infeasible because of excessive groundwater mounding.

Simulation 2 represents a recharge rate of only 7.5 mgd. On a regional basis, the increase in potentiometric surface is small (0.08 foot in the Upper Floridan aquifer). On the other hand, Simulation 4a represents the maximum feasible recharge rate when using all 21 candidate RIB sites. The 22.5-mgd recharge rate for Simulation 4a is three times the Simulation 2 recharge rate, and the regional increase in potentiometric head is also about three times (0.24 ft in the Upper Florida aquifer) as great as the Simulation 2 results. However, from a local perspective, head increase in both cases appears to be substantial. In the case of Simulation 2, the water table rises between 2.75 and 15.06 ft at various recharge sites, whereas in the case of Simulation 4a, it varies between 2.77 and 24.66 ft.

Construction of additional RIBs could also have a positive impact on spring flows within the Wekiva River Basin. The simulation results indicate that approximately 70% of the induced recharge will appear as increased spring flow. For example, recharge of 22.5 mgd (Simulation 4a) would increase year 2010 spring flows by 16.2 mgd. However, the study shows that Apopka Spring will significantly benefit from this RIB project because, out of a 70% increase in spring flow, Apopka Spring alone will receive 25%.

The expected decrease in year 2010 spring flow, caused by additional water supply withdrawals, is 68.4 mgd. Therefore, the maximum feasible

RIB configuration investigated in this study could effectively offset 24% of the projected decrease in spring flow.

CONTENTS

Executive Summary	v
Groundwater Modeling	v
Hydrologic Simulations	vi
Conclusions	viii
List of Figures	xiii
List of Tables	xv
INTRODUCTION	1
Purpose and Scope	1
Description of the Study Area	4
Topography	4
Climate	4
Hydrogeology	7
ARTIFICIAL RECHARGE METHODS	
Direct Surface	
Direct Subsurface	13
Indirect Recharge	
Rapid Infiltration Basin	14
METHODOLOGY	
Site-Selection Criteria	17
Site Identification	19
Allocation of Reclaimed Wastewater	
Modeling	
Conceptual Model	
Numerical Model	
GROUNDWATER FLOW MODEL	
Initial Conditions	
Boundary Conditions	
Input	
SIMULATIONS AND RESULTS	
Baseline Simulations	
Basic Simulation (Simulation 1)	

Technical Feasibility of Artificial Recharge of Reclaimed Wastewater

Alternative Simulations	36
Simulation 2	36
Simulation 3	38
Simulation 4	42
Simulation 4a	42
Improvement in the 2010 Hydraulic Potential	44
Impacts on Spring Flows	44
Simulation 1	45
Simulation 2	50
Simulation 3	50
Simulation 4	50
Simulation 4a	50
Springflow Recoveries	51
Minimum Spring Flows	52
1 0	
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	55
Results of Simulations	
Conclusions	
References	57

ł

FIGURES

1	Population and public water supply projections in the St. Johns River Water Management District (SJRWMD)2
2	Water supply development options for SJRWMD3
3	Priority water resource caution areas in SJRWMD5
4	Boundary of study area6
5	Schematic diagram showing conceptual flow regimes in the subsurface
6	Potential recharge areas obtained through GIS search21
7	Artificial recharge sites for alternatives 1 and 2
8	Line diagram of groundwater flow regimes in the study area23
9	Initial potentiometric head used in modeling for the Upper Floridan aquifer
10	Artificial recharge sites for alternative 3
11	Artificial recharge sites for alternatives 4 and 4a43

I

TABLES

ES-1	Summary of artificial recharge simulations with reclaimed wastewatervii
1	Hydrogeologic characteristics at recharge sites24
2	Rapid infiltration basin (RIB) site scenarios and simulated mound heights for Simulation 135
3	Regional increase of hydraulic head in the model area for 1994 pumping scenario
4	Regional increase of hydraulic head in the model area for 2010 pumping scenario
5	Recharge rates and areas at various artificial recharge sites
6	Groundwater mound heights in the surficial aquifer at RIB sites for 1994 pumping scenario40
7	Groundwater mound heights in the surficial aquifer at RIB sites for 2010 pumping scenario
8	Effect of technically feasible artificial recharge scenarios in year 2010 45
9	Spring discharge with and without artificial recharge of groundwater for 1994 pumping scenario
10	Spring discharge with and without artificial recharge of groundwater for 2010 pumping scenario
11	Effect of technically feasible artificial recharge alternatives on springflow recoveries, including Apopka Spring
12	Effect of technically feasible artificial recharge alternatives on springflow recoveries, excluding Apopka Spring

Technical Feasibility of Artificial Recharge of Reclaimed Wastewater

INTRODUCTION

Groundwater is the principal source of water supply in the St. Johns River Water Management District (SJRWMD). The use of groundwater in SJRWMD continues to increase with the fast growing development in Florida. If this trend continues, not only the state's population will increase by the year 2010, but the demand for public water supply within SJRWMD will increase also (Figure 1).

As part of its Water Supply Needs and Sources Assessment Project, SJRWMD has evaluated the hydrologic impacts associated with projected groundwater withdrawals through the year 2010 (Vergara 1994). Considering the magnitude of the projected population growth in central Florida, specifically in Orange, Seminole, Volusia, and Lake counties, the increased demand for groundwater could cause significant declines in the potentiometric head in the Floridan aquifer, which could adversely affect spring flows and wetlands and cause saltwater intrusion.

To prevent the deterioration of water resources, SJRWMD is investigating the technical and economic feasibility of alternative water supply strategies (Figure 2). Artificial recharge and reuse of reclaimed water are among the alternatives being considered to offset the adverse impacts due to increased water supply withdrawal within SJRWMD.

PURPOSE AND SCOPE

This study explores the potential of artificial recharge of reclaimed wastewater into the groundwater system to offset the potential adverse hydrologic impacts due to increased groundwater pumpage. Artificial recharge is the process of augmenting recharge to the groundwater flow system through artificial means with waters that are not naturally recharged. In a broad sense, this may be termed as managed recharge of surplus water from various surface sources into the groundwater system.

The objectives of this study are as follows:

• To determine the potential impacts of artificial recharge on the potentiometric surface of the Floridan aquifer



Figure 1. Population and public water supply projections in the St. Johns River Water Management District (Florence 1996)



Figure 2. Water supply development options for the St. Johns River Water Management District (CH2M HILL 1997)

- To determine the potential impacts of artificial recharge on the elevation of the water table in the surficial aquifer
- To assess the effectiveness of artificial recharge of reclaimed waste-water into the groundwater system to enhance spring discharges

DESCRIPTION OF THE STUDY AREA

The study area for this evaluation is limited to the priority water resource caution areas (WRCAs) identified by SJRWMD and located in Lake, Orange, Seminole, and Volusia counties (Figure 3). The area selected for this study is shown in Figure 4.

Topography

The topography of the WRCAs ranges from rolling highlands in the western part to flat, swampy lowlands in the eastern part along the St. Johns River. Land surface elevations in the rolling highlands generally range from 100 to 200 feet mean sea level (ft msl), and rise as high as 310 ft msl just west of Lake Apopka in southeastern Lake County. Along the St. Johns River, land surface elevations are generally less than 35 ft msl and the terrain is generally flat and swampy.

Climate

The climate of the study area, which is subtropical humid, is characterized by warm, relatively wet summers and mild, relatively dry winters (Tibbals 1990). The average air temperature is approximately 71 degrees Fahrenheit (°F). Most years have a few days of freezing temperature, but the minimum temperature rarely falls below 20°F. The maximum temperature frequently rises to 90°F.

The average annual rainfall is approximately 51 inches over the study area. Rainfall is unevenly distributed during the year. About 54% of the annual rainfall occurs during four summer months—June through September. Most of the summer rainfall is derived from local showers or thunderstorms that occur randomly. Winter rainfall generally results from large cold fronts that move from the northern states and cause the warm resident air masses to lose their moisture.



Figure 3. Priority water resource caution areas in the St. Johns River Water Management District (Vergara 1994)



Figure 4. Boundary of study area (groundwater simulation model domain)

The maximum (potential) and minimum (actual) evapotranspiration (ET) rates in the study area are about 47 and 30 inches per year (in/yr), respectively (Tibbals 1990). However, actual ET is always less than potential ET. Thus, ET ranges from 30 to 47 in/yr, depending on the proximity of the water table to the land surface, type of vegetative cover, rainfall, meteorological conditions, and soils.

Hydrogeology

The hydrogeology of the study area is quite complex, with a multiplelayer lithological structure (Figure 5). The most recent comprehensive descriptions of the geology of the Floridan aquifer system are from Miller (1982a, b, c, d, e and 1986) and Tibbals (1990). The study area is underlain mostly by sand, limestone, dolomite, gypsum, anhydrite, and shale, which together may comprise a thickness of several thousand feet (Tibbals 1990). Below those depths are the rocks that comprise the basement complex.

Surficial Aquifer

The uppermost water-bearing formation in the hydrogeologic system is the surficial aquifer. Throughout most of the study area, the surficial aquifer generally consists of fine-to-medium quartz sands that contain varying amounts of silt, clay, and loose shell. In some coastal areas, the surficial aquifer also contains beds of cemented shell or coquina.

Water in the surficial aquifer is unconfined. In the swampy lowlands and flatlands, the water table is generally at or near land surface throughout most of the year. In the rolling highlands, the water table is generally a subdued reflection of the topography, but can be several tens of feet below land surface (GeoTrans 1992). At depths usually less than 50 ft below the water table, the sands of the surficial aquifer generally grade into less permeable clayey or silty sands of the Hawthorn Group, which acts as the overlying confining unit of the Floridan aquifer system (GeoTrans 1992). The thickness of the Hawthorn Group ranges from 0 to 150 ft in the study area (Tibbals 1990).

The surficial aquifer is used as a source of potable supplies, particularly in coastal areas where the Upper Floridan aquifer contains brackish water. In areas other than the coast, the most important function of the surficial aquifer is to store water to maintain the ecosystem and replenish the Upper Floridan aquifer through recharge. The surficial aquifer is little used as a source of water supply in non-coastal areas because, compared



Figure 5. Schematic diagram showing conceptual flow regimes in the subsurface

to the Floridan aquifer system, its permeability and yields to wells are low. Also, the water from the surficial aquifer often contains high concentrations of dissolved iron and is sometimes highly colored.

Hydraulic conductivities of the surficial aquifer have a wide range. Laboratory test values range from 1.0×10^{-5} to 3.4×10^{-1} feet per day (ft/day), with a median of 1.0×10^{-2} ft/day (Phelps 1990). Slug test values range from 3×10^{-2} to 12.8 ft/day, with a median of 2.9×10^{-1} ft/day (McGurk et al. 1989). Pumping test values vary from 4 to 114 ft/day, with an average of 50 ft/day (Gomberg 1980, 1981). Average hydraulic conductivity (50 ft/day) was selected for use in the simulation model of this study area. From a slug test, the value of specific yield for the surficial aquifer was estimated to be 0.25 (Phelps 1990).

Floridan Aquifer System

The Floridan aquifer system is the principal source of water supply in SJRWMD. This aquifer system is comprised of a sequence of limestone and dolomite that ranges in thickness from about 2,000 ft in the northwestern part of the study area to about 2,400 ft in the extreme southwestern part. The elevation of the top of the Floridan aquifer system ranges from +50 to -100 ft msl throughout the project area (GeoTrans 1992). However, the aquifer system does not outcrop in the study area.

The Floridan aquifer system is divided into two highly permeable zones, namely, the Upper Floridan and Lower Floridan aquifers, by a less permeable layer known as the middle confining unit. According to Miller (1986), the average thickness of the Upper Floridan aquifer in the study area is about 350 ft, while the thickness of the Lower Floridan aquifer ranges from 1,300 to 1,500 ft (GeoTrans 1992). The middle confining unit is believed to be thinnest in the western part of the study area, while it is as much as 500 ft thick in southern Seminole County (GeoTrans 1992). The middle semiconfining unit occurs at elevations from 300 to 350 ft below mean sea level (GeoTrans 1992). This unit is leaky and provides impedance to flow between the Upper and Lower Floridan aquifers, which have a head difference typically less than 4 to 5 ft (Tibbals 1990). The Floridan aquifer system is underlain by a low-permeability layer, called the lower confining unit. For groundwater modeling purposes, this layer may be assumed to be impermeable.

Because of the karst nature of the Floridan aquifer, there are many local depressions caused by sinkholes and lakes. Most of the sinkholes are in

the high recharge areas, generally where the depth to the top of the Floridan is less than 200 ft (Tibbals 1990). Tibbals (1981) reports that the transmissivities of the Upper Floridan aquifer in the study area vary within a range from 10,000 to 400,000 square feet per day (ft²/day), and the transmissivities of the Lower Floridan aquifer vary between 30,000 and 130,000 ft²/day. Tibbals (1990) also reports that the most suitable storage coefficient for both the Upper and Lower Floridan aquifers is 1 x 10^{-3} .

Recharge/Discharge Rates

The groundwater system in the study area is a multiple-aquifer system with the aquifers separated by confining layers. In such a system, interaquifer water movement occurs because of the head difference between the aquifers. When the elevation of the water table in the surficial aquifer is greater than the potentiometric head of the Upper Floridan aquifer, water from the surficial aquifer flows into the Upper Floridan aquifer. This downward leakage from the surficial aquifer into the Upper Floridan aquifer is called recharge. Conversely, leakage from the Upper Floridan aquifer into the surficial aquifer is called discharge. When the elevation of the water table in the surficial aquifer is less than the potentiometric head in the Upper Floridan aquifer, groundwater flows as discharge from the Upper Floridan aquifer into the surficial aquifer. Such discharge generally occurs in the study area in and around surface water bodies, such as lakes, springs, and rivers.

The surficial aquifer is recharged by local rainfall, irrigation, lakes, ditches, and streams; septic tank effluent; holding pond effluent from wastewater or storm water; and by upward leakage from the Upper Floridan aquifer. The highest rates of recharge occur in the ridge areas, which have little or no surface drainage. Locally, recharge rates in these areas can range from 6 to 18 in/yr (Tibbals 1981; Rutledge 1985). In ridge areas, most of the recharge to the surficial aquifer moves quickly downward to the Upper Floridan aquifer (Phelps 1990). In ridge areas, recharge rates have been estimated to be 8 to 9 in/yr (Phelps 1990).

Water leaves the surficial aquifer as seepage to lakes, ditches, and streams; as evapotranspiration when the water table is near the land surface or within the root zone; as pumpage; and as downward leakage into the Floridan aquifer. High leakage as recharge from the surficial aquifer into the Upper Floridan aquifer occurs in ridge areas. The recharge rates from the surficial aquifer to the Upper Floridan aquifer in these areas range

from 0 to 20 in/yr (Tibbals 1990). Leakage as discharge from the Upper Floridan aquifer into the low-lying areas in the surficial aquifer ranges from 0 to 7 in/yr (Tibbals 1990).

The rate of recharge or discharge between the surficial and Upper Floridan aquifers depends on the hydraulic head difference between the aquifers and the leakance of the upper confining unit separating the aquifers (Boniol et al. 1993). This can be defined mathematically as follows:

Recharge rate = hydraulic head difference x leakance

where:

Hydraulic head difference = water table elevation – Upper Floridan aquifer potentiometric head

and

```
Leakance = <u>vertical hydraulic conductivity of upper confining unit</u>
thickness of upper confining unit
```

In the case of negative head difference, the flow occurs upward as discharge rate.

Technical Feasibility of Artificial Recharge of Reclaimed Wastewater

ARTIFICIAL RECHARGE METHODS

A variety of methods have been developed to artificially recharge the groundwater system. Most use variations or combinations of direct surface, direct subsurface, and indirect recharge techniques. SJRWMD is interested in investigating methods of artificial recharge that are technically, environmentally, and economically feasible, as well as acceptable to the communities within SJRWMD.

DIRECT SURFACE

The most widely practiced methods are direct surface techniques, such as surface flooding, ditch and furrow system, basins (e.g., rapid infiltration basins [RIBs]), and stream channel modification. The advantage of groundwater recharge by these direct surface techniques is that it can replenish aquifers in the vicinity of metropolitan and agricultural areas where groundwater overdraft is severe. Also, these methods have the additional benefits of the filtering effect of soils and the transmission of water by aquifers.

DIRECT SUBSURFACE

In contrast to surface recharge techniques, groundwater recharge by direct subsurface injection or by well is practiced where the hydrogeology, topography, or existing land use, such as in urban areas, makes basin recharge impractical or too expensive. Groundwater recharge by wells is particularly effective in creating freshwater barriers in coastal aquifers against saltwater intrusion from the sea. The artificial recharge of reclaimed wastewater by well injection is subject to strict regulations that require tertiary treatment levels for wastewater. Thus, this approach for artificial recharge may be expensive compared to other alternatives.

Before the recent concerns about trace organics and viruses in drinking water, several groundwater recharge projects were developed and operated with apparent success using secondary effluent in spreading basins (Asano 1985). However, because of the increasing concern that low concentrations of stable organics and heavy metals may cause long-term health effects and because of the potential presence of pathogenic organisms in reclaimed wastewater, groundwater recharge with reclaimed wastewater normally requires further treatment following conventional secondary treatment. Thus, the stringent requirements of pre-application treatment are important factors in planning, designing, and managing groundwater recharge with reclaimed wastewater. These may include disinfection, chemical oxidation, coagulation, flocculation, clarification, filtration, air stripping, ion exchange, activated carbon adsorption, and reverse osmosis or other membrane separation processes. However, in the case of the RIB method, when a soil-aquifer system is used for treating wastewater and controlled underground movement and sample collection of the water exist, the requirements for pretreatment of groundwater recharge could be less stringent. An optimum combination of pretreatment, soil-aquifer treatment, and post-treatment of renovated water should be included.

INDIRECT RECHARGE

The remaining indirect groundwater recharge methods involve special cases in which potable water supply is provided by riverbank or sand dune filtration of generally polluted river water. This method of treatment is practiced in Europe, particularly in Germany and the Netherlands (Asano 1985). The water filtered through the riverbanks traverses an aquifer to an extraction point at some distance from the riverbank.

RAPID INFILTRATION BASIN

Rapid infiltration basins for artificial recharge operate at several locations in Florida. However, this method still needs to be tested for effectiveness in SJRWMD, as well as for its overall impact on the groundwater system. RIBs have gained public acceptance in SJRWMD, particularly in the Orlando and Palm Coast areas, where reclaimed wastewater is stored in surface water storage tanks for nonpotable uses, particularly for the irrigation of agricultural and horticultural crops. The surplus water, not used for irrigation, is discharged into RIBs to recharge the groundwater system.

The RIB method of groundwater recharge provides an effective mechanism of wastewater treatment. However, despite the cleansing capability of RIBs, the wastewater must still be treated to meet Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) standards before it can be recharged into the aquifer system at a RIB site. Groundwater recharge with reclaimed wastewater presents a wide spectrum of technical and health challenges that must be carefully evaluated. The following four factors of water quality are particularly significant (California State Water Resources Control Board 1975):

- Microbiological quality
- Total mineral content
- Presence of a heavy metal mineral toxicant
- Concentration of stable organic substances

METHODOLOGY

The primary objective of this study is to assess the hydrologic impacts of artificial recharge of reclaimed wastewater into the groundwater system using RIBs. The potential for using artificial recharge to improve regional groundwater conditions has technical, environmental, and legal and institutional ramifications. In this study, the most difficult task is identifying suitable sites for RIBs, which have several technical and nontechnical challenges.

For this investigation, groundwater modeling was used to simulate the regional groundwater flow system. The following steps were implemented:

- 1. Develop technical and legal criteria for site selection.
- 2. Identify potential RIB sites within the study area using a geographic information system (GIS).
- 3. Divide the study area into subregions on the basis of the location and availability of reclaimed water from wastewater treatment plants.
- 4. Use a groundwater flow model to simulate the effects of RIBs in the study area for a number of artificial recharge scenarios and to evaluate potential impacts on the groundwater flow system.

SITE-SELECTION CRITERIA

Site selection involves the consideration of physical siting criteria, recharge water (source) availability and quality, legal and institutional issues, artificial recharge methods, and potential costs and benefits.

To find suitable locations for RIB sites within the study area, the following technical and legal/institutional selection criteria were considered:

- Technical Criteria
 - Soil infiltration capacity and permeability. Infiltration capacity and permeability of soils above the water table should be sufficiently high to convey the treated water discharged to a

recharge basin. The vertical hydraulic conductivity of a soil profile in this search was considered to be at least 5 ft/day.

- Leakance value of the confining layer. The leakance of the confining unit should be sufficiently high to best use the difference in head associated with the water mound caused by artificial recharge. The minimum leakance value at a recharge site was assumed to be 1.0×10^4 /day.
- Thickness of the surficial layer. The surficial layer should be thick enough to accommodate and dissipate the recharged water. The minimum thickness of the surficial aquifer at a recharge site was assumed to be 50 ft.
- Thickness of the vadose zone. The vadose zone should be thick enough to accommodate the groundwater mound above the baseline water table at a recharge site, as well as to cleanse the suspended materials and other impurities from the recharge water. The minimum thickness of the vadose zone at a recharge site was assumed to be 20 ft.
- Hydraulic potential at RIB recharge sites. The recharge site should be located in the recharge zone where water table elevations of the surficial aquifer are much higher than the potentiometric head of the Floridan aquifer. At a recharge site, this head difference was assumed to be at least 35 ft.
- Legal/Institutional Criteria
 - Proximity of wellfields. A wellfield should be at least 500 ft away from the recharge site to comply with FDEP regulations (62-521, *Florida Administrative Code* [F.A.C.]).
 - Residence time. According to the Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) recommendations, the residence time of recharged water should be at least one year to reach a wellfield from the point of recharge (EPA 1992).
 - Minimum areal extent. The areal extent of a recharge site should be sufficient to prevent the seepage (saturated infiltration) rate from being exceeded by the recharge water supply rate.

- Location. The location of a recharge site should be acceptable to the communities, with minimal impacts on ecology and environment.

SITE IDENTIFICATION

A GIS search was conducted to identify sites suitable for RIBs that best satisfy the site selection criteria. ARC/INFO was used to perform GRID analyses and applicable overlying coverage. The GIS platform consisted of a SUN Sparcstation using SunOs 4.13 (UNIX) running ARC/INFO 6.1 (ESRI 1992). The methodology was an overlay procedure in the GRID module of ARC/INFO.

To identify the appropriate locations for the artificial recharge of groundwater, particularly through RIBs, the initial GIS search used a single criterion. In each subsequent GIS application, criteria were added to eliminate areas not fulfilling the current requirements. Eventually, the areas that fulfilled all the criteria for RIB sites were identified.

In the first application, a GIS search delineated the gross areas that satisfied two criteria: (1) surficial aquifer more than 50 ft thick and (2) areal extent of an isolated patch of area more than 10 acres.

In the second application, additional selection criteria were applied so that the previously delineated areas could be further evaluated to identify those with the greatest recharge potential. The additional criteria were (1) the leakance value of the upper confining unit should be at least 0.0013/day and (2) a buffer of at least 500 ft should be between a recharge site and a production well or wellfield. The average residence time through the buffers was computed to be 10 years. However, FDEP regulations require a minimum buffer of 500 ft (62-521, *F.A.C.*) and EPA (1992) recommends a minimum residence time of 1 year.

In the third application, two more criteria were imposed: (1) the thickness of the surficial aquifer should be at least 100 ft and (2) the thickness of the unsaturated zone above the water table should be at least 20 ft.

In the fourth application, saturated infiltration capacity was added to identify the areas in which moderate infiltration rates range from 10 to 15 inches per hour and the high infiltration capacity exceeds 16 inches per hour. The delineated areas remaining were also divided into categories on the basis of two sets of leakance values: one set ranges from 1.0×10^4 to 1.3×10^4 /day, and the other set ranges from 1.3×10^4 to 1.6×10^4 /day.

Among the other factors considered were the proximity of lakes, availability of treatment facilities, length of transmission pipes, and the distance between RIB sites in the study area.

After applying the criteria above, the areas that meet the selection criteria for potential artificial recharge were identified (Figure 6). Seven artificial recharge sites with the greatest recharge potential and most proximal to the wastewater treatment plants were selected for hydrologic evaluation (Figure 7). The average hydrogeologic characteristics of the recharge sites are provided in Table 1.

ALLOCATION OF RECLAIMED WASTEWATER

To calculate the availability of reclaimed wastewater for each recharge site, the model area was divided into seven subregions, one for each recharge site (Figure 7). The locations of the reclaimed wastewater treatment plants were overlaid on the study area map using GIS methods (Brandes 1996). The available reclaimed water from the treatment plants located in each subregion were added to determine the quantity available for artificial recharge at each site. The reclaimed wastewater available at site Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 were computed to be 41,575; 320,032; 119,243; 375,376; 251,855; 1,855,000; and 314,685 cubic feet per day (ft³/day), respectively. Thus, the total reclaimed water available is about 24.6 million gallons per day (mgd) (Brandes 1996).

MODELING

For this effort, both conceptual and numerical models were developed to further evaluate the areas identified as being potentially suitable for artificial recharge. These models and their functions are described below.

Conceptual Model

To help conceptualize the physical processes of groundwater flow in the subsurface system, a schematic diagram of the components of the groundwater flow regime and their interrelationship within the model domain are shown in Figures 5 and 8. Ultimately, this conceptual model was translated into a numerical groundwater flow model.







Figure 7. Artificial recharge sites for alternatives 1 and 2


Figure 8. Line diagram of groundwater flow regimes in the study area

Site Number	Land Surface Elevation (ft msl)	Bottom Elevation of Surficial Layer (tt msl)	Hydraulic Conductivity of Surficial Layer (ft/day)	Transmissivity of Upper Floridan Aquifer (ft ² /day)	Transmissivity of Lower Floridan Aquifer (ft²/day)
1	94.00	19.57	50.00	200,000	60,000
2	82.00	41.64	50.00	100,000	30,000
3	128.00	51.76	50.00	300,000	60,000
4	120.00	43.77	50.00	200,000	60,000
5	81.00	50.00	50.00	40,000	60,000
6	102.00	50.00	50.00	40,000	300,000
7	100.00	21.42	50.00	200,000	570,000

Table 1.	Hydrogeolo	ic characteristics	at recharge sites
----------	------------	--------------------	-------------------

Note: ft msl = feet mean sea level ft/day = feet per day ft2/day = square feet per day

Figures 5 and 8 show that the model domain is a multi-aquifer system consisting of the vadose zone, surficial aquifer, upper confining unit, Upper Floridan aquifer, middle confining unit, Lower Floridan aquifer, and the lower confining unit in a sequence from the ground surface to the bedrock.

Hydraulic stress in an aquifer may transmit from layer to layer within the system. While the confining units impede the flow of water from one aquifer into another, water is still transmitted between the layers. Although the hydrogeologic properties in an individual layer may not change substantially from point to point, each layer in a multi-aquifer system is still more or less anisotropic and heterogeneous.

Figures 5 and 8 also show that the groundwater and the surface water systems are linked by the vadose zone. Water, as artificial recharge from RIBs, areal recharge from rainfall, and ponding water from low-lying areas, flows through the unsaturated soil profile (vadose zone) into the groundwater system. The surficial aquifer not only receives water from the land surface, but also loses water as a result of evapotranspiration, direct pumpage, and spring discharge processes. Also, the exchange of water as a gain or loss between surface water bodies, such as rivers, canals, lakes, and ponds, and the groundwater zone always occurs on the basis of hydrologic conditions.

Numerical Model

Simulation of a complex interaquifer flow regime cannot be achieved by performing analytical modeling of individual aquifers because the aquifers are integrated in a single, multi-aquifer system. Thus, for this application, all the aquifers have been viewed simultaneously as a single integrated system in a numerical model.

In this modeling effort, the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) finite difference code, called MODFLOW (McDonald and Harbaugh 1988), was used for groundwater flow analysis in the multi-aquifer system (Figures 5 and 8). Steady-state analysis was performed for all the simulations, each with a set of boundary conditions representing the hydrologic condition of the aquifer system.

Technical Feasibility of Artificial Recharge of Reclaimed Wastewater

GROUNDWATER FLOW MODEL

All the sites selected for simulating the impact of artificial recharge of groundwater are located within the WRCAs, particularly in Volusia, Seminole, Orange, and Lake counties. These recharge sites are also located within the regional groundwater flow model domain (Figure 4) developed by GeoTrans (1992) for SJRWMD to simulate groundwater flow in the Wekiva River Basin. For this reason, the same model domain as that used for the Wekiva River Basin was used in this study. This model domain consists of three aquifers—the surficial, Upper Floridan, and Lower Floridan—and two aquitards, called the upper and middle confining units (Figure 5).

The domain is discretized into 38 columns and 35 rows. The maximum and minimum spacings between the grid lines along the x axis are 21,120 and 2,640 ft, respectively, and along the y axis are 21,210 and 2,640 ft, respectively. The vertical spacings are the cell-specific thickness of the aquifers and confining units. However, the confining units are integrated with the adjacent aquifers in terms of input data, without being considered independent layers.

INITIAL CONDITIONS

Groundwater flow simulations for various recharge scenarios were performed for steady-state flow conditions. Unlike a transient simulation, a steady-state simulation is concerned with space only, not with time. During steady-state modeling, the simulated output is the outcome of a given set of boundary conditions, where the inflow is equal to the outflow, without changing the volume of water in storage within the model domain over time. Regardless of the initial condition, a steady-state simulation for a given set of boundary conditions always ends with a specific solution in terms of primary variable(s). In this steady-state analysis, regardless of the initial condition, there will be a set of outputs in terms of hydraulic head for each set of boundary conditions. A reasonable initial guess is essential to help a steady-state solution converge and to avoid lengthy computational time.

For this modeling effort, the initial guess for hydraulic head in the aquifers, required for the input files, was developed on the basis of the hydrologic data, particularly the water levels and potentiometric head observed in the field from 1993 through 1995.

The sources of the data were USGS potentiometric surface maps of the Floridan aquifer, USGS well data, SJRWMD observation well data, lake and river stages, and a regression analysis showing the relationship between the land surface and water table elevations in the surficial aquifer (Boniol et al. 1993). In this study, the initial guess (or background hydraulic condition) generally represents the field data for the years 1993 through 1995. In the case of missing data at any grid cell or cells, the data around the cells of interest were interpolated to fill out the missing data point.

As an illustration, the background hydraulic condition for the Upper Floridan aquifer is shown in Figure 9. Note that the background hydraulic condition was used in this study to simulate the response of the aquifers to the hydraulic stresses caused by regional groundwater withdrawals and artificial recharge. This modeling effort is designed to simulate the response of the various aquifers to the man-made hydraulic stresses on the aquifer system, such as groundwater withdrawals and artificial recharges, *not* to simulate the hydrologic conditions in a specific year.

BOUNDARY CONDITIONS

During the modeling process, hydraulic conditions affecting the flow regime in the model domain were represented in terms of hydraulic head and/or recharge into, or discharge from, the aquifer system. The boundary conditions used for modeling were developed to best fit the conceptual model of groundwater flow regime in the study area. These boundary conditions were different from those used by GeoTrans (1992).

In the GeoTrans model, the surficial aquifer was assumed to be inactive and a head-dependent source boundary, while the model domain was assumed to be surrounded by a no-flow boundary. For the conceptual model used in this study, the surficial aquifer was active, allowing groundwater to flow freely both horizontally and vertically in the hydraulically stressed aquifer system. The surrounding model domain boundary was also active, allowing regional groundwater to flow in and out of the various aquifers within the model domain according to the hydraulic gradient.

Areal recharge from the land surface was assigned to the surficial aquifer separately through the recharge package in MODFLOW. Point recharge



Figure 9. Initial potentiometric head used in modeling for the Upper Floridan aquifer

and discharge at various points in various aquifers within the aquifer system were represented by the well package in MODFLOW. Artificial recharge to the surficial aquifer at RIB sites was also considered to be point recharge and was also incorporated in the well package. The areal extent of a RIB was represented by a single grid cell or by a cluster of grid cells at the RIB site.

The vertical peripheral walls, or boundaries, of the model domain were activated by assigning specified head to represent the approximate field conditions. Major lakes and water bodies were represented with grid cells, with specified heads in the surficial aquifer. The springs were defined by the drainage package in MODFLOW, in which water can only discharge. The boundary conditions represented by specified head are called Dirichlet boundary conditions, while external recharge into, or withdrawals from, the aquifer system is called flux (or Nuemann) boundary conditions. The bottom face of the model domain being bounded by a low-permeability confining unit was assumed to be a noflow boundary.

INPUT

For this modeling effort, the input files, particularly those that involve parameters and basic data developed by GeoTrans (1992) were used directly, with no modifications. These basic data include the areal extent of model domain, the number and size of rows and columns, the transmissivity values of the Floridan aquifer, and the leakance values of the confining units. The major changes in the remaining input files were the incorporation of the surficial layer as an active unconfined aquifer and replacement of initial and peripheral boundary conditions to fit the present modeling requirements.

The recharge package was also added to each set of the input files for each of the pumping scenarios to incorporate water exchange between the surficial aquifer and land surface. Also, alternative well packages were used for various artificial recharge conditions. For example, in the case of baseline simulations, the baseline well packages for the pumping scenarios of 1994 and 2010 were updated and used to simulate the baseline potentiometric head in various aquifers, when no artificial recharge was included in the well packages. When simulating artificial recharge, RIBs for each alternative simulation were added to update the well files of baseline conditions. As a result, the difference between the simulations with and without artificial recharge indicated the impacts of artificial recharge on the groundwater flow system.

In this model, the areal extent of a RIB that was to provide artificial recharge was represented by the areal extent of the grid cells encompassing the RIB. Also in this model, a RIB was represented as a point source; however, in the case of a site-specific model with finer grids, a RIB may be big enough to be considered a distributed source.

The MODFLOW input files used in the modeling process are basic (BAS), block-centered-flow (BCF), well (WEL), recharge (RCH), drain (DRN), and strongly implicit procedure packages (SIP).

Technical Feasibility of Artificial Recharge of Reclaimed Wastewater

 $(\alpha = \gamma_1 (k^2)) = \gamma_2 (\alpha_2 + \beta_1) = 0$

 $\mathcal{S}_{C_{1,1}} \to \mathcal{S}_{2}$

SIMULATIONS AND RESULTS

The objective of the simulations is to determine the response of the groundwater flow system to the artificial recharge of reclaimed wastewater. A series of simulations was performed until the simulated hydrologic conditions reached acceptable levels, in particular, maximizing the potential of the groundwater flow system and minimizing environmental hazards.

Two pumping scenarios, one for 1994 and the other for 2010, were compared to assess the effects of RIBs in the groundwater flow system in the study area. In both the cases, all the input files were the same, except for the groundwater withdrawal scenarios for the respective year. The 1994 pumping scenario was considered to simulate the hydrologic impacts of artificial recharge of groundwater under a recent pumping condition. The projected 2010 pumping scenario reflected additional stress on the Upper Floridan aquifer, creating a hydrologic condition that might use recharged water from the RIBs more effectively. Two baseline simulations and five artificial recharge simulations were performed to evaluate the potential hydraulic response in the groundwater flow system as well as the effects on spring discharges.

BASELINE SIMULATIONS

The baseline simulations in this study represent the hydrologic conditions of the aquifer system for all boundary and initial conditions, except the use of reclaimed water for artificial recharge of groundwater. The baseline simulations were performed for two pumping scenarios: one for 1994 and the other for 2010. Because the projected groundwater withdrawals for the year 2010 are much higher than for 1994, it is likely that the overall (model area average) drawdown for 2010 would be greater than that for 1994. The overall drawdown in an aquifer is the sum of all the drawdowns at grid cells multiplied by their respective cell areas and divided by the total area of the model domain. Mathematically, the overall (mean) drawdown can be defined as

$$\overline{D} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} D_i A_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} A_i}$$
(1)

where:

 \overline{D} = overall (mean) drawdown D_i = drawdown at cell *i* A_i = area of cell *i* n = number of cells in the model area

The overall (mean) drawdowns for 2010 were computed to be 1.25, 1.51, and 1.57 ft greater in the surficial, Upper Floridan, and Lower Floridan aquifers, respectively, compared to those for 1994.

Although the study area baseline potentiometric head for 1994 is greater than that for 2010, this may not be the case for site-specific conditions. For example, in the vicinity of Wekiva Falls, west of the Wekiva River near State Road 46, the potentiometric head for 2010 is greater than that for 1994. At this site, an artesian well discharging at the rate of 12.75 mgd was simulated in 1994, while for the year 2010, the well was assumed to be plugged.

BASIC SIMULATION (SIMULATION 1)

The basic simulation (Simulation 1) was the first test to determine the feasibility of the RIB method at all seven of the artificial recharge sites. At these sites, all the available reclaimed wastewater was recharged through the RIBs into the surficial layer during the test. The artificial recharge rates at Sites 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 were 41,575; 320,032; 119,243; 375,376; 251,855; 1,855,090; and 314,685 ft³/day, respectively, into the surficial aquifer. These recharge rates total 24.6 mgd, which is equal to the total reclaimed water available for artificial recharge. The recharge rates and other features at the RIB sites are summarized in Table 2.

The simulation of artificial recharge using reclaimed wastewater created groundwater mounds in the water table at the RIB sites. This local mounding above the baseline water table elevation at Sites 2, 4, 5, and 6 was 28.43, 33.53, 40.19, and 79.37 ft, respectively, for the 1994 pumping scenario, and 21.05, 33.97, 45.36, and 83.91 ft, respectively, for the 2010 pumping scenario (Table 2). These results show that mound heights at four of the seven sites exceeded the land surface for both the 1994 and

	Basic Simulation (Simulation 1)										
Subregion	Land Surface Elevation (ft msl)	Depth to Water Table Without Recharge (feet)	Area (acres)	Recharge Rate (ft*/day)	1994 Mound Height (feet)	2010 Mound Height (feet)	Remarks				
1	94.0	11.91	1,280	41,575	2.78	2.79					
2	82.0	21.07	720	320,032	28.43	21.05	Mound height too high				
3	128.0	52.52	1,920	119,243	6.49	6.80					
4	120.0	21.46	480	375,376	33.53	33.97	Mound height too high				
5	81.0	18.46	320	251,855	40.19	45.36	Mound height too high				
6	102.0	44.06	1,440	1.86x10 ⁶	79.37	83.91	Mound height too high				
7	100.0	11.02	3,840	314,685	10.49	10.62					

Table 2. Rapid infiltration basin site scenarios and simulated mound heights for Simulation 1

Note: ft msl = feet mean sea level

ft³/day = cubic feet per day

2010 scenarios. This means that the thickness of the vadose zone and the transmissivity of the surficial layer are not sufficient to transmit all the available artificially recharged water away from RIB Sites 2, 4, 5, and 6. Thus, the RIBs in the vicinity of Sites 2, 4, 5, and 6 may cause surface runoff and flooding. If a groundwater mound remains in close proximity to the bottom of the RIB basin, the RIB may lose its capability to cleanse impurities from the water because of the lack of flow through a deep, unsaturated zone. Thus, a mound should be well below the bottom of a RIB.

In this simulation option, the overall regional enhancements in potentiometric head of the surficial, Upper Floridan, and Lower Floridan aquifers were computed to be 0.53, 0.28, and 0.23 ft, respectively, for 1994 and 0.54, 0.30, and 0.24 ft, respectively, for 2010. Tables 3 and 4 present the regional increase in hydraulic head for all simulated recharge conditions for the 1994 and 2010 pumping conditions, respectively. The simulation results indicate that little difference exists in the regional effects of artificial recharge for the two pumping scenarios evaluated.

In Simulation 1, the simulated water table in the surficial aquifer at the RIB recharge sites exceeded the land surface in many areas, which would

Aquitor	Increase in Hydraulic Head (feet)							
Aquilei	Simulation 1	Simulation 2	 Simulation 3 	Simulation 4	Simulation 4a			
Surficial	0.53	0.17	0.51	0.58	0.54			
Upper Floridan	0.28	0.08	0.27	0.25	0.23			
Lower Floridan	0.23	0.06	0.21	0.20	0.18			

Table 3. Regional increase of hydraulic head in the model area for 1994 pumping scenario

Table 4. Regional increase of hydraulic head in the model area for 2010 pumping scenario

Aquifor		Increase in Hydraulic Head (feet)							
Aquiei	Simulation 1	Simulation 2	Simulation 3	Simulation 4	Simulation 4a				
Surficial	0.54	0.18	0.52	0.59	0.55				
Upper Floridan	0.30	0.08	0.28	0.26	0.24				
Lower Floridan	0.24	0.07	0.23	0.21	0.19				

cause surface runoff. Thus, the simulated water table in the surficial aquifer may not be realistic and additional simulations are necessary to reflect realistic hydrologic conditions that would not have significant adverse environmental impacts.

ALTERNATIVE SIMULATIONS

The results of the basic simulation indicate that the seven sites identified could not handle all the available treated wastewater without creating undesirable hydrologic conditions. For this reason, the quantities of water applied to the RIB sites were modified until the simulated hydrologic conditions were acceptable. To achieve this objective, five additional simulations were performed, the results of which follow.

Simulation 2

Simulation 2 is the same as the basic simulation (Simulation 1), except the recharge rates were reduced to 1/3, 1/3, 1/4, and 1/8, respectively, of the initial amounts used for Simulation 1 at Sites 2, 4, 5, and 6 (Table 5). The total effective recharge rate for Simulation 2 is 7.5 mgd. The simulated mound heights for this option were computed to be 2.75, 10.88, 6.43, 12.6, 13.59, 15.06, and 10.15 ft for the 1994 pumping scenario and 2.75, 11.19, 6.72,

	Sim	ulation 1	Sim	ulation 2	Sim	ulation 3	Sim	ulation 4	Simu	lation 4a
Subregion	Area (acres)	Rech. Rate (ft ³ /day)	Area (acres)	Rech, Rate (ft ³ /day)	Area (acres)	Rech. Rate (ft ³ /day)	No. of Sites	Rech. Rate (ft ³ /day)	No. of Sites	Rech. Rate (ft ³ /day)
1	1,280	41,575	1,280	41,575	1,280	41,575	1	41,575	1	41,575
2	720	320,032	720	106,677	1,440 (2)*	320,032	3	320,032	3	320,032
3	1,920	119,243	1,920	119,243	1,920	119,243	1	119,243	1	119,243
4	480	375,376	480	125,125	1,920 (3)*	375,376	3	375,376	3	312,813
5	320	251,855	320	62,964	1,600 (4)*	251,855	4	251,855	4	214,078
6	1,440	1.86 x 10 ⁶	1,440	231,886	1,920 (2)*	1.86 x 10 ⁶	8	1.86 x 10 ⁶	8	1.86 x 10 ⁶
7	3,840	314,685	3,840	314,685	3,840	314,685	1	314,685	1	157,432

Table 5. Recharge rates and areas at various artificial recharge sites

Note: ft³/day = cubic feet per day Rech. = recharge

*Indicates number of cells at the recharge sites with multiple cells.

12.81, 18.08, 17.43, and 10.28 ft for the 2010 pumping scenario at Sites 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7, respectively (Tables 6 and 7).

These mound heights are smaller than those associated with Simulation 1, primarily because of the reduced recharge rates at Sites 2, 4, 5, and 6. The simulated results of this option demonstrate that although mound heights reduced were considerable, enhancement of the potentiometric head of the aquifers and of spring discharge are low compared to that of Simulation 1. The regional improvements in head of the surficial, Upper Floridan, and Lower Floridan aquifers compared to baseline conditions were computed to be 0.17, 0.08, and 0.06 ft, respectively, for 1994, and 0.18, 0.08, and 0.07 ft, respectively, for 2010 (Tables 3 and 4).

Simulation 3

Simulation 3 is the same as Simulation 1, except the RIBs that had groundwater mounds higher than land surface were increased in size. Figure 10 shows the location of the expanded artificial recharge sites. The intent of Simulation 3 was to reduce the groundwater mound heights by expanding the recharge areas so that the mounds could be accommodated within the soil profile. The recharge areas and recharge rates are shown in Table 5.

With this option, the recharge areas at Sites 2, 4, 5, and 6 were increased from 720, 480, 320, and 1,440 acres to 1,440, 1,920, 1,600, and 1,920 acres, respectively. Despite the larger areal extent of the recharge areas, the new mound heights at Sites 2, 4, 5, and 6 were computed to be 19.01, 16.16, 13.62, and 75.14 ft (Table 6), respectively, compared to 28.43, 33.53, 40.19, and 79.37 ft, respectively, for Simulation 1 for the 1994 condition. Similar values were also computed for the 2010 pumping scenario (Table 7). Although the mound heights are reduced to some extent, they still appear to be too high at many sites.

Using Simulation 3, the average regional enhancement in potentiometric head in the surficial, Upper Floridan, and Lower Floridan aquifers was computed to be 0.51, 0.27, and 0.21 ft, respectively, for the 1994 pumping scenario, and 0.52, 0.28, and 0.23 ft, respectively, for the 2010 pumping scenario (Tables 3 and 4).



Figure 10. Artificial recharge sites for alternative 3

	Land Surface	Depth to Water	Groundwater Mound Heights (feet) at Artificial Recharge Sites					
Site	Elevation (feet msl)	Table Without Recharge (feet)	Simulation 1	Simulation 2	Simulation 3	Simulation 4	Simulation 4a	
1	94.0	11.91	2.78	2.75	2.78	2.77	2.77	
2	82.0	21.07	28.43	10.88	19.01	11.87 (3)*	11.87	
3	128.0	52.52	6.49	6.43	6.49	6.56	6.56	
4	120.0	21.46	33.53	12.6	16.16	20.0 (3)*	12.62	
5	81.0	18.46	40.19	13.59	13.62	21.61 (4)*	18.16	
6	102.0	44.06	79.37	15.06	75.14	26.43 (8)*	26.44	
7	100.0	11.02	10.49	10.15	10.55	11.19	6.25	

Table 6. Groundwater mound heights in the surficial aquifer at rapid infiltration basin sites for 1994 pumping scenario

Note: msl = mean sea level

*Indicates number of artificial recharge sites within each subregion.

i

 $\frac{2\pi}{2}$

	Land Surface	Depth to Water	Groundwater Mound Heights (feet) at Artificial Recharge Sites				
Site	Elevation (feet msl)	Table Without Recharge (feet)	Simulation 1	Simulation 2	Simulation 3	Simulation 4	Simulation 4a
1	94.0	12.21	2.79	2.75	2.79	2.78	2.78
2	82.0	22.99	21.05	11.19	20.46	12.14 (3)*	12.14 (3)*
3	128.0	55.12	6.80	6.72	6.80	6.79	6.78
4	120.0	22.86	33.97	12.81	17.35	20.27 (3)*	12.90 (3)*
5	81.0	23.82	45.36	18.08	17.69	24.68 (4)*	17.68 (4)*
6	102.0	50.76	83.91	17.43	66.85	28.01 (8)*	27.90 (8)*
7	100.0	13.49	10.62	10.28	10.68	11.31	6.31

Table 7. Groundwater mound heights in the surficial aquifer at rapid infiltration basin sites for 2010 pumping scenario

Note: msl = mean sea level

*Indicates number of artificial recharge sites within each subregion.

Simulation 4

To avoid excessive mound heights, 21 RIB sites instead of seven were selected within the model area domain, as illustrated in Figure 11. As a result, the number of RIB recharge sites in Subregions 2, 4, 5, and 6 were increased from a single site to three, three, four, and eight sites, respectively. The multiple sites were located as far away from each other as possible in the subregions to prevent interference of the mounding effect in the surficial aquifer. The recharge rate for a subregion with multiple sites was equally divided among the newly selected sites within that subregion.

The recharge rates and RIB locations for Sites 1, 3, and 7, where the simulated mound heights were found to be acceptable, were unchanged. Clearly this option was selected to reduce the water mound heights by distributing the point recharge throughout the study area at a greater number of sites.

Maximum mound heights for each subregion are reported in Tables 6 and 7 for 1994 and 2010 conditions, respectively. For Simulation 4, the mound heights in Subregions 4 and 5, only, were unsatisfactory. Unfavorable site characteristics, such as shallow depth to the water table, low transmissivity of the surficial layer, and low leakance of the upper confining unit, are the probable causes for the poor hydrologic conditions in those subregions. The overall enhancement in the potentiometric head of the surficial, Upper Floridan, and Lower Floridan aquifers was computed to be 0.58, 0.25, and 0.20 ft, respectively, for the 1994 pumping scenario, and 0.59, 0.26, and 0.21 ft, respectively, for the 2010 pumping scenario (Tables 3 and 4).

Simulation 4a

Simulation 4a is the same as Simulation 4, except the reclaimed water application rate is reduced as necessary until the computed groundwater mounding is within acceptable limits. The results indicate that the 21 candidate RIB sites can effectively recharge 22.5 mgd, or about 91%, of the available reclaimed water. This represents the estimated maximum, technically feasible artificial recharge rate at the 21 identified RIB sites.

The overall enhancement in the potentiometric head of the surficial, Upper Floridan, and Lower Floridan aquifers was computed to be 0.54, 0.23, and 0.18 ft, respectively, for the 1994 pumping scenario and 0.55,



Figure 11. Artificial recharge sites for alternatives 4 and 4a

0.24, and 0.19 ft, respectively, for the 2010 pumping scenario (Tables 3 and 4).

IMPROVEMENT IN THE 2010 HYDRAULIC POTENTIAL

As stated earlier, the overall model area weighted average drawdowns for 2010 as a result of increased pumpage were 1.25, 1.51, and 1.57 ft greater in the surficial, Upper Floridan, and Lower Floridan aquifers, respectively, than the same values for 1994. This increase in regional drawdown can be offset in part by the artificial recharge scenarios evaluated in this report. Of the five scenarios evaluated, only two simulations (2 and 4a) are technically feasible. The remaining three simulations result in unacceptable groundwater mounding. The drawdown offset or recovery that could be achieved by implementation of the feasible RIB alternatives is summarized in Table 8.

For Simulation 2, which recharges 7.5 mgd at seven RIB locations, the areawide drawdown recoveries are relatively small, ranging from about 14.4% in the surficial aquifer to 4.5% in the Lower Floridan aquifer. For simulation 4a, which recharges 22.5 mgd at 21 RIB sites, the regional drawdown recoveries are more significant, ranging from 44% in the surficial aquifer to 12.1% in the Lower Floridan aquifer. Since the recharge is applied directly to the surficial aquifer, the recoveries (local and regional) are greatest in this hydrologic unit. Conversely, the recoveries are lowest in the Lower Floridan aquifer.

IMPACTS ON SPRING FLOWS

Consequently, the change in potentiometric head in the aquifer system caused by artificial recharge of groundwater also affects the spring discharge within the region. The discharge of a spring depends on cavern configurations and the head difference between the discharge point of the spring and the head of the aquifer contributing water to the spring. The 24 springs in the model area, have a total historic median discharge of 693.50 cubic feet per second (cfs) (from 1929 to 1993) and an estimated median discharge of 587.70 cfs for the 2010 pumping condition (Vergara 1994; Rao and Clapp 1996).

	Regional Cha	ional Change in Potentiometric Head (feet)			
Simulated Condition	Surficial Aquiter	Upper Floridan Aquifer	Lower Floridan Aquifer		
Baseline 2010 additional drawdown compared with 1994 condition	1.25	1.51	1.57		
2010 potentiometric head increase for Simulation 2 (7.5-mgd artificial recharge rate)	0.18	0.08	0.07		
2010 potentiometric head increase for Simulation 4a (22.5-mgd artificial recharge rate)	0.55	0.24	0.19		
	Draw	down Recovery (p	ercent)		
2010 potentiometric head increase for Simulation 2 (7.5-mgd artificial recharge rate)	14.4	5.3	4.5		
2010 potentiometric head increase for Simulation 4a (22.5-mgd artificial recharge rate)	44.0	15.9	12.1		

Table 8. Effect of technically feasible artificial recharge scenarios in year 2010

Note: mgd = million gallons per day

Simulation 1

Using Simulation 1, the total spring discharges within the region were computed to be 715.16 and 615.58 cfs, respectively, for the years 1994 and 2010. In other words, the artificial recharge associated with Simulation 1 increased the total spring discharge for 1994 by 21.66 cfs, and for 2010 by 27.88 cfs. Thus, Simulation 1 enhanced the total spring discharge by 3.12 and 4.74%, respectively, for the years 1994 and 2010. The simulated discharges of individual springs within the model domain for the years 1994 and 2010 are shown in Tables 9 and 10, respectively.

The total estimated median spring discharge without artificial recharge in 2010 is 105.8 cfs less than the historic median (Vergara 1994). The artificial recharge of various alternatives can reduce this overall springflow difference to various extents. For example, in 2010, the artificial recharge associated with Simulation 1 would increase the total spring discharge by 27.88 cfs, which in turn would reduce the difference in spring discharge between 1994 and 2010 from 105.8 to 77.92 cfs. Thus, there may be a 26.35% recovery in the difference in total spring discharge for 1994 and 2010 using Simulation 1.

Table 9. Spring discharge with and without artificial recharge	e of groundwater for 1994 pumping scenar
--	--

	Spring	Historical Median and Required Minimum Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 1 Discharge Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 2 Discharge Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 3 Discharge Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 4 Discharge Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 4a Discharge Q (cfs and %)
1.	Apopka	36.00 (100.00) ——	40.25 (111.81)	37.67 (104.65)	40.45 (112.36)	39.81 (110.57)	39.48 (109.7)
2.	Blue (Lake County)	3.00 (100.00)	3.06 (101.88)	3.03 (101.13)	3.06 (101.88)	3.06 (101.88)	3.06 (101.72)
3.	Holiday Spring and Creek	3.60 (100.00)	3.68 (102.30)	3.65 (101.35)	3.68 (102.30)	3.69 (102.44)	3.67 (102.23)
4.	Alexander Spring and Creek	138.20 (100.00)	138.37 (100.12)	138.30 (100.07)	138.37 (100.12)	138.36 (100.11)	138.35 (100.10)
5.	Camp La-No-Che	0.90 (100.00)	0.93 (103.11)	0.91 (101.47)	0.93 (103.15)	0.93 (102.84)	0.93 (102.6)
6.	Messant	14.90 (100.00) 12.00	15.22 (102.17)	15.00 (100.67)	15.23 (102.19)	15.22 (102.14)	15.19 (101.96)
7.	Seminole	35.80 (100.00) 34.00	36.88 (103.02)	36.15 (100.98)	36.95 (103.20)	36.94 (103.19)	36.84 (102.92)
8.	Blue	158.40 (100.00)	161.42 (101.90)	159.36 (100.61)	161.55 (101.99)	160.46 (101.30)	160.28 (101.19)
9.	Gemini	8.50 (100.00) ——	8.76 (103.04)	8.56 (100.75)	8.73 (102.65)	8.71 (102.51)	8.69 (102.3)
10.	Rock	60.90 (100.00) 53.00	63.68 (104.56)	61.72 (101.35)	63.56 (104.36)	62.79 (103.10)	62.63 (102.84)
11.	Witherington	(100.00)	4.84 (102.89)	4.74 (100.77)	4.83 (102.81)	4.80 (102.18)	4.79 (101.99)
12.	Wekiva	67.80 (100.00) 62.00	69.14 (101.98)	68.11 (100.46)	69.16 (102.01)	68.85 (101.55)	68.76 (101.42)
13.	Clifton	1.70 (100.00)	1.85 (108.70)	1.72 (101.30)	1.81 (106.37)	1.81 (106.38)	1.80 (105.84)
14.	Miami	4.70 (100.00) 4.00	4.82 (102.61)	4.73 (100.58)	4.83 (102.67)	4.80 (102.08)	4.79 (101.9)
15.	and 16. Sanlando and Palm	43.50 (100.00) 22.00	47.90 (110.11)	44.29 (101.83)	48.21 (110.83)	46.97 (107.97)	46.67 (107.29)
17.	Starbuck	14.50 (100.00) 13.00	16.97 (117.02)	14.92 (102.93)	16.94 (116.82)	16.42 (113.24)	16.26 (112.11)
18.	Lake Jesup	1.00 (100.00)	1.11 (110.50)	1.02 (101.52)	1.07 (107.47)	1.06 (106.40)	1.05 (105.85)

Table 9—Continued

Spring	Historical Median and Required Minimum Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 1 Discharge Q (cts and %)	Simulation 2 Discharge Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 3 Discharge Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 4 Discharge Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 4a Discharge Q (cts and %)
19. Island	6.10 (100.00) 	6.29 (103.15)	6.14 (100.73)	6.26 (102.56)	6.25 (102.49)	6.24 (102.28)
20. Alexander Creek	30.00 (100.00)	30.09 (100.30)	30.05 (100.16)	30.09 (100.30)	30.08 (100.27)	30.07 (100.25)
21. Lake Jesup	5.60 (100.00) 	5.84 (104.21)	5.64 (100.69)	5.79 (103.32)	5.90 (105.42)	5.87 (104.96)
22. St. Johns River	8.90 (100.00)	9.07 (101.96)	8.93 (100.34)	9.04 (101.58)	9.23 (103.74)	9.20 (103.42)
23. Lake Harney, North	20.20 (100.00)	20.20 (100.00)	20.20 (100.00)	20.20 (100.00)	20.20 (100.00)	20.20 (100.00)
24. Lake Harney, South	24.60 (100.00) 	24.81 (100.86)	24.64 (100.14)	24.77 (100.70)	25.29 (102.79)	25.23 (102.55)
Total discharge (including Apopka)	693.50 (100.00)	715.16 (103.12)	699.50 (100.86)	715.48 (103.17)	711.62 (102.61)	710.07 (102.39)
Total discharge (excluding Apopka)	657.50 (100.00)	674.91 (102.65)	661.92 (100.66)	675.03 (102.67)	671.81 (102.18)	670.59 (101.99)
Enhancement in discharge (including Apopka)		21.66 (3.12%)	6.00 (0.86%)	21.98 (3.17%)	18.12 (2.61%)	16.57 (2.39%)

Note: cfs = cubic feet per second — = projection not available

Figures in parentheses indicate the discharge in percent compared with the historical median discharge.

Table 10. Spring discharge with and without artificial recharge of groundwater for 2010 pumping scenario

Spring	2010 Discharge and Required Minimum Discharge Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 1 Discharge Q (cts and %)	Simulation 2 Discharge Q (cts and %)	Simulation 3 Discharge Q (cts and %)	Simulation 4 Discharge Q (cts and %)	Simulation 4a Discharge Q (cfs and %)
1. Apopka*	21.30 (100.00) ——	31.44 (147.62)	25.10 (117.86)	31.87 (149.60)	30.18 (141.67)	29.42 (138.11)
2. Blue* (Lake County)	0.90 (100.00)	0.96 (106.67)	0.94 (104.17)	0.96 (107.08)	0.96 (107.08)	0.95 (106.48)
3. Holiday Spring and Creek*	1.60 (100.00) 	1.69 (105.85)	1.65 (103.35)	1.69 (105.79)	1.70 (106.09)	1.69 (105.57)
4. Alexander Spring and Creek	134.60 (100.00)	134.77 (100.12)	134.70 (100.07)	134.77 (100.12)	134.75 (100.12)	134.74 (100.11)
5. Camp La-No-Che	0.80 (100.00)	0.83 (103.61)	0.81 (101.70)	0.83 (103.65)	0.83 (103.29)	0.83 (103.01)
6. Messant	14.00 (100.00) 12.00	14.32 (102.29)	14.10 (100.71)	14.32 (102.31)	14.32 (102.26)	14.29 (102.07)
7. Seminole	31.80 (100.00) 34.00	32.86 (103.33)	32.14 (101.08)	32.92 (103.53)	32.92 (103.51)	32.82 (103.21)
8. Blue*	132.90 (100.00)	135.57 (102.01)	133.75 (100.64)	135.69 (102.10)	134.73 (101.37)	134.57 (101.25)
9. Gemini*	6.80 (100.00) 	7.03 (103.38)	6.86 (100.84)	7.00 (102.95)	6.99 (10281	6.97 (102.57)
10. Rock*	49.10 (100.00) 53.00	51.75 (105.40)	49.89 (101.61)	51.64 (105.17)	50.91 (103.69)	50.76 (103.38)
11. Witherington*	3.80 (100.00)	3.93 (103.44)	3.84 (100.93)	3.93 (103.35)	3.90 (102.62)	3.89 (102.4)
12. Wekiva	58.80 (100.00) 62.00	60.11 (102.22)	59.11 (100.52)	60.13 (102.26)	59.83 (101.75)	59.74 (101.6)
13. Clifton*	1.10 (100.00)	1.22 (110.58)	1.12 (101.59)	1.19 (107.75)	1.19 (107.82)	1.18 (107.15)
14. Miami*	3.90 (100.00) 4.00	4.02 (103.01)	3.93 (100.67)	4.02 (103.07)	3.99 (102.40)	3.98 (102.2)
15. and 16. Sanlando and Palm*	36.40 (100.00) 22.00	41.86 (115.00)	37.39 (102.73)	42.24 (116.04)	40.73 (111.90)	40.36 (110.88)
17. Starbuck*	7.40 (100.00) 13.00	9.84 (132.91)	7.82 (105.70)	9.80 (132.45)	9.31 (125.75)	9.15 (123.55)
18. Lake Jesup*	0.70 (100.00)	0.79 (112.93)	0.71 (101.88)	0.76 (109.21)	0.76 (107.94)	0.76 (107.26)

Table 10-Continued

Spring	2010 Discharge and Required Minimum Discharge Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 1 Discharge Q (cts and %)	Simulation 2 Discharge Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 3 Discharge Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 4 Discharge Q (cfs and %)	Simulation 4a Discharge Q (cts and %)
19. Island	5.90 (100.00) 	6.08 (103.12)	5.94 (100.73)	6.05 (102.52)	6.05 (102.48)	6.04 (102.27)
20. Alexander Creek	29.20 (100.00)	29.29 (100.30)	29.25 (100.17)	29.29 (100.30)	29.28 (100.28)	29.27 (100.26)
21. Lake Jesup*	4.20 (100.00)	4.40 (104.77)	4.23 (100.79)	4.36 (103.77)	4.46 (106.18)	4.44 (105.65)
22. St. Johns River	7.00 (100.00)	7.15 (102.09)	7.03 (100.36)	7.12 (101.69)	7.28 (104.01)	7.26 (103.67)
23. Lake Harney, North*	15.90 (100.00)	15.90 (100.00)	15.90 (100.00)	15.90 (100.00)	15.90 (100.00)	15.90 (100.00)
24. Lake Harney, South*	19.60 (100.00) 	19.77 (100.89)	19.63 100.15)	19.74 (100.72)	20.17 (102.90)	20.12 (102.65)
Total discharge (including Apopka)	587.70 (100.00)	615.58 (104.74)	595.85 (101.39)	616.21 (104.85)	611.12 (103.98)	612.7 (104.25)
Total discharge (excluding Apopka)	566.40 (100.00)	584.14 (103.13)	570.74 (100.77)	584.34 (103.17)	580.94 (102.57)	582.51 (102.84)
Enhancement in discharge (including Apopka)		27.88 (4.74%)	8.15 (1.39%)	28.51 (4.85%)	23.42 (3.98%)	25.0 (4.25%)

Note: cfs = cubic feet per second — = projection not available

Figures in parentheses indicate the discharge in percent compared to the 2010 median discharge.

*Spring discharge is 15 (or more than 15) percent less than the historical median (Vergara 1994).

Simulation 2

For Simulation 2, which represents the maximum recharge attainable with the seven RIB configurations, total spring discharge was computed to be 699.50 and 595.85 cfs for the years 1994 and 2010, respectively, which is about 0.86 and 1.39% greater, respectively, than that of baseline conditions (Tables 9 and 10). Because of the artificial recharge associated with Simulation 2, the increase in total spring discharge is 8.15 cfs, or 5.3 mgd, in the year 2010 compared to the 2010 baseline condition. Thus, the difference between the values for total spring discharge in 1994 and 2010 was reduced by 7.7 cfs, to 97.65 cfs. These simulation results indicate that artificial recharge appears to be an efficient method of springflow augmentation. Simulation 2 provides a 7.5 mgd recharge rate, of which 5.3 mgd, or about 70% of the total, contributes to direct springflow increase. However, of this 70% contribution, 32% is attributed to Apopka Spring alone.

Simulation 3

For Simulation 3, total spring discharges were computed to be 3.17 and 4.85% greater than baseline conditions for the years 1994 and 2010, respectively (Tables 9 and 10). Using this artificial recharge option, total spring discharge in 2010 is increased by 28.51 cfs. Therefore, the difference in total spring discharge for 1994 and 2010 was reduced from 105.8 cfs to 77.29 cfs, or 27%.

Simulation 4

For Simulation 4, total spring discharges were computed to be 2.61 and 3.98% greater than baseline conditions for the years 1994 and 2010, respectively (Tables 9 and 10). Using this option, the increase in the total spring discharge is 23.42 cfs in 2010; and the improvement in the total spring discharge between 1994 and 2010 is 22.13%. Thus, the difference between the 1994 and 2010 total spring discharge will be reduced to 83.67 cfs.

Simulation 4a

Simulation 4a is the same as Simulation 4, except that the reclaimed water application rate is reduced to 22.5 mgd. This is the maximum recharge rate that can be accommodated by the 21 RIB configurations without unacceptable groundwater mounding occurring.

For Simulation 4a, total spring discharges were computed to be 710.1 and 612.7 cfs for the years 1994 and 2010, respectively, which are about 2.4 and 4.3% greater, respectively, than their baseline conditions (Tables 9 and 10). Because of the artificial recharge associated with Simulation 4a, the increase in total spring discharge is 25.0 cfs, or 16.2 mgd, in the year 2010. Simulation 4a provides a 22.5-mgd recharge rate, of which 16.2 mgd, or about 72%, contributes to direct spring flow. Like Simulation 2, Simulation 4a indicates that artificial recharge using RIBs appears to be an effective method for springflow augmentation.

Springflow Recoveries

Projected springflow decreases caused by increased water supply withdrawal may be offset, in part, by implementation of the feasible artificial recharge alternatives (Simulations 2 and 4a) identified in this investigation. Simulations 2 and 4a appear to recharge 7.5 and 22.5 mgd of reclaimed wastewater, respectively. The effects of these technically feasible recharge alternatives on springflow recoveries, including and excluding Apopka Spring, are summarized in Tables 11 and 12, respectively.

 Table 11. Effect of technically feasible artificial recharge alternatives on springflow recoveries, including Apopka Spring

Simulated Condition	Spring Flow, cfs (mgd)		
Baseline 2010 springflow reduction	105.8 (68.4)		
2010 springflow recovery for Simulation 2 (7.5 mgd artificial recharge rate)	8.2 (5.3)		
2010 springflow recovery for Simulation 4a (22.5 mgd artificial recharge rate)	25.0 (16.2)		
	Springflow Recovery (percent)		
2010 springflow recovery for Simulation 2 (7.5 mgd artificial recharge rate)	7.8		
2010 springflow recovery for Simulation 4a (22.5 mgd artificial recharge rate)	23.6		

Note: cfs = cubic feet per day

mgd = million gallons per day

 Table 12. Effect of technically feasible artificial recharge alternatives on springflow recoveries, excluding Apopka Spring

Simulated Condition	Spring Flow, cfs (mgd)	
Baseline 2010 springflow reduction	91.1 (58.9)	
2010 springflow recovery for Simulation 2 (7.5 mgd artificial recharge rate, excluding Apopka Spring)	4.3 (2.8)	
2010 springflow recovery for Simulation 4a (22.5 mgd artificial recharge rate, excluding Apopka Spring)	16.1 (10.4)	
	Springflow Recovery (percent)	
2010 springflow recovery for Simulation 2 (7.5 mgd artificial recharge rate)	4.7	
2010 springflow recovery for Simulation 4a (22.5 mgd artificial recharge rate)	17.7	

Note: cfs = cubic feet per day

mgd = million gallons per day

The total projected decrease in spring flow between 1994 and 2010 is 105.8 cfs. Implementation of the seven RIBs of Simulation 2 appears to reduce this projected decrease by 8.2 cfs, or 7.8%. Implementation of the 21 RIBs of Simulation 4a appears to increase spring flows by 25 cfs, or about 23.6%, of the anticipated 2010 springflow reduction. Therefore, a significant portion (25%) of the adverse effects of additional water supply withdrawals on spring flows could be offset by additional artificial recharge using RIBs. However, if Apopka Spring is excluded from consideration, an 18% recovery may be possible (Table 12).

Minimum Spring Flows

The minimum flows (Vergara 1994) required for various springs in the study area are shown in Table 9. The minimum spring flows are those that are required to maintain the environmental integrity of the receiving water body. The minimum stream flows and levels define the minimum range within which the streams must fluctuate to maintain the current ecological nature of the system (Hupalo et al. 1994). At this stage, the minimum flows are not available for all the springs (Vergara 1994). In Table 10, the required minimum flows are defined for seven of the 24 springs in the study area. As shown in the table, only two springs of the seven are flowing above the required minimums. Despite a 25% improvement of the projected adverse impact, none of the artificial

recharge scenarios tested in this study appear to be adequate alone in increasing spring flows above required minimum flows.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

RESULTS OF SIMULATIONS

As much as 24.6 mgd of reclaimed wastewater have been identified as potentially available for artificial recharge. Five RIB configurations were investigated to accommodate the potential recharge. Of these, Simulations 2 and 4a appeared to be technically feasible. The remaining simulations were not technically feasible because of excessive groundwater mounding at one or more of the potential RIB sites. Simulation 2 is a 7-RIB configuration providing a recharge of 7.5 mgd. Simulation 4a is a 21-RIB configuration providing a recharge of 22.5 mgd. Together, these feasible alternatives define the upper and approximate lower limits of practical application of additional RIBs within the study area.

The steady-state groundwater simulations conducted as part of this investigation quantified the effects of the feasible artificial recharge scenarios on regional aquifer potentiometric surface elevations and on spring flows within the study area in the Wekiva River Basin. These evaluations were conducted for both 1994 and year 2010 groundwater withdrawal conditions.

Regional potentiometric surface elevations are expected to decline in the surficial, Upper Floridan, and Lower Floridan aquifers because of increased groundwater withdrawals. Artificial recharge using RIBs appears to be most effective in offsetting the effects of groundwater withdrawals within the surficial aquifer (Table 8). The decline of up to 44% of the projected regional water table in the surficial aquifer could be offset by the 21 RIB configurations defined in Simulation 4a. RIBs are much less effective in offsetting potentiometric head declines in the Floridan aquifer. The maximum potential drawdown recovery is estimated to be 15.9 and 12.1% in the Upper Floridan and Lower Floridan aquifers, respectively.

RIBs can also reduce the magnitude of projected springflow declines. Spring flow within the study area could decline by about 106 cfs (68.4 mgd) by the year 2010 because of increased water supply withdrawals. The maximum feasible use of RIBs (Simulation 4a) could enhance spring flows by about 25 cfs (16.2 mgd), nearly 25% of the projected reduction. The simulations indicate that about 70% of the artificial recharge will become direct springflow augmentation.

CONCLUSIONS

The following conclusions can be drawn from the results of this study:

- The feasibility of the RIB method for the artificial recharge of reclaimed water is highly dependent on site-specific geologic, hydrologic, and geomorphic conditions.
- Using the GIS siting criteria developed and reported in this investigation, up to 21 potential new RIB sites were identified within the study area.
- Up to 22.5 mgd of additional reclaimed water may be recharged within the study using all 21 identified potential new RIB sites.
- Artificial recharge using RIBs can reduce the adverse effects of increased water supply withdrawal. RIBs are most effective for increasing potentiometric surface elevations in the surficial aquifer, and least effective for increasing potentiometric surface elevations in the Lower Floridan aquifer.
- RIBs can also augment spring flow. For the RIB configurations investigated in this study, approximately 70% of the recharged water contributes to direct increase in spring flow, including Apopka Spring, which alone receives about 25% of the total contribution.
- In the short term, strategically located RIB projects may enhance spring discharge without affecting additional groundwater withdrawal for water supply. However, in the long term, it appears that many of the springs are likely to flow below their required minimum discharge level.

REFERENCES

- Asano, T. 1985. Overview: Artificial Recharge of Ground Water. In Artificial Recharge of Ground Water. T. Asano, ed. Boston: Butterworth Publishers.
- Boniol, D., M. Williams, and D. Munch. 1993. Mapping Recharge to the Floridan Using a Geographic Information System. Technical Publication SJ93-5. Palatka, Fla.: St. Johns River Water Management District.
- Brandes, D. 1996. Water Use Data (unpublished). St. Johns River Water Management District, Palatka, Fla.
- California State Water Resources Control Board. 1975. A State-of-the-Art Review of Health Aspects of Wastewater Reclamation for Ground Water Recharge. Sacramento, Calif.
- CH2M HILL. 1996. Water Supply Needs and Sources Assessment: Alternative Water Supply Strategies Investigation: Aquifer Storage Recovery Utility Evaluations Task C—Aquifer Storage Recovery. Special Publication SJ97-SP16. Palatka, Fla.: St. Johns River Water Management District.
- [EPA] Environmental Protection Agency. 1992. Guidelines for Water Reuse: Manual. Report 625/R-92/004. Cincinnati, Ohio.
- [ESRI] Environmental Systems Research Institute, Inc. 1992. ARC/INFO User's Guide. Version 6.1. Redlands, Calif.
- Florence, B. 1994. Annual Water Use Survey: 1994. Technical Publication SJ96-3. Palatka, Fla.: St. Johns River Water Management District.
- ———. 1996. Water Use Data (unpublished). St. Johns River Water Management District, Palatka, Fla.
- GeoTrans, Inc. 1992. Wekiva River Basin Groundwater Flow and Solute Transport Modeling Study. Phase I: Regional Groundwater Flow Model Development. Special Publication SJ92-SP19. Palatka, Fla.: St. Johns River Water Management District.
- Gomberg, D.N. 1980. Available Ground Water at National Gardens Trust, Volusia County, Florida. Cape Coral, Fla.

——. 1981. Water Resources and Available Ground Water at Halifax Plantation, Volusia and Flagler Counties, Florida. Cape Coral, Fla.

- Hupalo, R.B., C.P. Neubauer, L.W. Keenan, D.A. Clapp, and E.F. Lowe. 1994. *Establishment of Minimum Flows and Levels for the Wekiva River System*.
 Technical Publication SJ94-1. Palatka, Fla.: St. Johns River Water
 Management District.
- McDonald, M.G., and A.W. Harbaugh. 1998. A Modular Three-Dimensional Finite-Difference Ground-Water Flow Model. Open-File Report 83-875. Denver, Colo.: U.S. Geological Survey, Federal Center.
- McGurk, B., P. Bond, and D. Mehan. 1989. *Hydrologic and Lithologic Characteristics of the Surficial Sediments in Volusia County, Florida*. Technical Publication SJ89-7. Palatka, Fla.: St. Johns River Water Management District.
- Miller, J.A. 1982a. Configuration of the Base of the Upper Permeable Zone of the Tertiary Limestone Aquifer System, Southeastern United States. Water Resources Investigations, Open-File Report 81-1177. Map. Atlanta: U.S. Geological Survey.

—. 1982b. Geology and Configuration of the Base of the Tertiary Limestone Aquifer System, Southeastern United States. Water Resources Investigations, Open-File Report 81-1176. Map. Atlanta: U.S. Geological Survey.

——. 1982c. Geology and Configuration of the Top of the Tertiary Limestone Aquifer System, Southeastern United States. Water Resources Investigations, Open-File Report 81-1178. Map. Atlanta: U.S. Geological Survey.

 ——. 1982d. Thickness of the Tertiary Limestone Aquifer System, Southeastern United States. Water Resources Investigations, Open-File Report 81-1124.
 Map. Atlanta: U.S. Geological Survey.

——. 1982e. Thickness of the Upper Permeable Zone of the Tertiary Limestone Aquifer System, Southeastern United States. Water Resources Investigations, Open-File Report 81-1179. Map. Atlanta: U.S. Geological Survey.

——. 1986. Hydrogeological Framework of the Floridan Aquifer System in Florida and in Parts of Georgia, Alabama, and South Carolina. Professional Paper 1403-B. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Geological Survey.

- Phelps, G.G. 1990. Geology, Hydrology, and Water Quality of the Surficial Aquifer System in Volusia County, Florida. Water Resources Investigations Report 90-4069. Tallahassee, Fla.: U.S. Geological Survey.
- Rao, D.V., and D.A Clapp. 1996. Preliminary Evaluation of the Impacts of Spring Discharge Reductions on the Flows of Receiving Water Bodies and Natural Systems,
Central Florida. Special Publication SJ96-SP3 Palatka, Fla.: St. Johns River Water Management District.

- Rutledge, A.T. 1985. Ground Water Hydrology of Volusia County, Florida, With Emphasis on Occurrence and Movement of Brackish Water. Water Resources Investigations Report 84-4206. Tallahassee, Fla.: U.S. Geological Survey.
- Tibbals, C.H. 1981. Computer Simulation of the Steady-State Flow System of the Tertiary Limestone (Florida) Aquifer System. Water Resources Investigation Open-File Report 81-681. Tallahassee, Fla.: U.S. Geological Survey.
 - ——. 1990. Hydrology of the Floridan Aquifer System in East-Central Florida. Professional Paper 1403-F. Tallahassee, Fla.: U.S. Geological Survey.
- Vergara, B., ed. 1994. Water Supply Needs and Sources Assessment, 1994. Technical Publication No. SJ94-7. Palatka, Fla.: St. Johns River Water Management District.

References not cited in text

- Bouwer, H. 1985. Renovation of Wastewater With Rapid-Infiltration Land Treatment Systems. In *Artificial Recharge of Ground Water*. T. Asano, ed. Boston: Butterworth Publishers.
 - ——. 1989. Systems for Artificial Recharge of Ground Water. In Artificial Recharge of Ground Water. A.I. Johnson and D.J. Finlayson, eds. Proceedings of the International Symposium on Artificial Recharge of Ground Water, American Society of Civil Engineers, New York.
- Clyma, W. 1964. Artificial Ground Water Recharge by a Multi-Purpose Well. Texas Agric. Exp. Sta. MP-712. College Station, Texas.
- Cross, P., H.E. Fahie, and D.E. Wilkinson. 1994. Rapid Infiltration Basin Operation and Maintenance. In Artificial Recharge of Ground Water II. A.I. Johnson and D.G. Pyne, eds. Proceedings of the Second International Symposium on Artificial Recharge of Ground Water, American Society of Civil Engineers, New York.
- Fenald, E.A., ed. 1984. *Water Resources Atlas of Florida*. Tallahassee: Florida State University.
- Fetter, C.W., and R.C. Holzmacher. 1974. Ground Water Recharge With Treated Wastewater. J. Water Pollu. Control Fed. 46(2):260–270.

- German, E.R., and L.A. Bradner. 1988. Artificial Recharge to Floridan Aquifer System, Orlando Area, Central Florida. In Artificial Recharge of Ground Water. A.I. Johnson and D.J. Finlayson, eds. Proceedings of the International Symposium on Artificial Recharge of Ground Water, American Society of Civil Engineers, New York.
- Hauser, V.L. 1967. Artificial Ground Water Recharge Through Wells. J. Soil and Water Conserv. 22(1):11–15.
 - ———. 1989. Ground Water Recharge Through Wells. In *Artificial Recharge of Ground Water*. A.I. Johnson and D.J. Finlayson, eds. Proceedings of the International Symposium on Artificial Recharge of Ground Water, American Society of Civil Engineers, New York.
- Helweg, O.J. 1985. Role of Artificial Recharge in Ground Water Basin. In *Artificial Recharge of Ground Water*. T. Asano, ed. Boston: Butterworth Publishers.
- Huang, C. 1994. Revised Spring Conductance Coefficients, Wekiva River Basin Ground Water Flow Model. Professional Paper SJ94-PP3. Palatka, Fla.: St. Johns River Water Management District.
- Nellor, M.H., R.B. Baird, and J.R. Smyth. 1985. Health Aspects of Ground Water Recharge. In Artificial Recharge of Ground Water. T. Asano, ed. Boston: Butterworth Publishers.
- O'Hare, M.P., D.M. Fairchild, and L.W. Carter. 1986. Artificial Recharge of Ground Water Status and Potential in the Contiguous United States. Chelsea, Mich.: Lewis Publishers, Inc.
- Phelps, G.G. 1984. Recharge and Discharge Areas of the Floridan Aquifer in the St. Johns River Water Management District and Vicinity, Florida. Water Resources Investigations Report 82-4058. Tallahassee, Fla.: U.S. Geological Survey.
- Schneider, A.D., O.R. Jones, and D.C. Signor. 1971. Recharge of Turbid Water to the Ogallala Aquifer Through a Dual-Purpose Well. Texas Agric. Exp. Sta. MP-1001. College Station, Texas.
- White, W.A. 1958. Some Geomorphic Features of the Central Peninsula, Florida. Bulletin 41. Tallahassee: Florida Bureau of Geology.
- White, W.A. 1970. *The Geomorphology of the Florida Peninsula*. Bulletin 51. Tallahassee, Fla.: Bureau of Geology.